IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
No. 22–1995

TERRACE HILL SOCIETY FOUNDATION,
Plaintiff–Appellee,

vs.

TERRACE HILL COMMISSION and
KRISTIN HURD, in her official capacity
as Chairperson of the Terrace Hill Commission,
Defendants–Appellants.

Appeal from the Iowa District Court for Polk County
David Nelmark, District Judge

APPELLANTS' FINAL BRIEF

BRENNA BIRD
Attorney General of Iowa

ERIC WESSAN
Solicitor General of Iowa

ANDREW EWING
Assistant Attorney General
1305 E. Walnut Street
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-5164
(515) 281-4209 (fax)
andrew.ewing@ag.iowa.gov

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. **The Terrace Hill Society Foundation sued the Terrace Hill Commission—a state agency—and its Chair, seeking declaratory judgment that the Foundation owns historical artifacts on display inside the Terrace Hill mansion. The State has not waived sovereign immunity for suits relating to the ownership of personal property possessed by the State or its agencies. Did the district court err in denying the Commission’s motion to dismiss?**

Cal. v. Deep Sea Rsch., Inc., 523 U.S. 491 (1998)

Ex parte Young, 209 U.S. 123 (1908)

Iowa Code § 8A.326

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case should be retained by the Supreme Court because it presents a fundamental issue of public importance and a substantial issue of first impression. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(c)–(d). The Terrace Hill Society Foundation seeks a declaratory judgment establishing its ownership over the Terrace Hill collection. A court ruling that would divest the State of its property interest in the collection interferes with its sovereignty. This case also presents a substantial issue of first impression. No court has been asked to determine the ownership of the items in the Terrace Hill collection.

Because this case presents a fundamental issue of public important and an issue of first impression, the Supreme Court should retain this case.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Terrace Hill Commission (“Commission”) is a state agency responsible for preserving, renovating, landscaping, and administering Terrace Hill, including its historical collections and all related property. Iowa Code § 8A.326. The Terrace Hill Society Foundation (“THSF”) and its predecessor organizations previously worked on behalf of the State to support Terrace Hill. But in 2013, the Legislature amended Iowa law, giving the Commission discretion to contract with nonprofits to support Terrace Hill. Act of June 17, 2013, ch. 135, § 63–65, 2013 Iowa Acts 554, 574–75. When disagreements arose between the Commission and THSF, the Commission decided not to contract with THSF—denying THSF access to Terrace Hill and declining THSF’s support.

A few years later, unhappy that the Commission declined to accept its support, THSF sued. Its first petition named the Commission as sole defendant, seeking a declaratory judgment that THSF “is the sole owner of all of the items in the [Terrace Hill] Collection and has the exclusive right to ownership and control over the items.” App. 6, ¶ 12. And THSF sought an injunction allowing it access to the collection at the Terrace Hill site. App. 6. The Commission moved to dismiss the suit as barred by

sovereign immunity. App. 8. Rather than resist the motion, THSF amended its petition. It now sues both the Commission and its Chair, Kristin Hurd (collectively, the “Commission”). App. 19–21, ¶¶ 14–22.

In its amended petition, THSF still seeks a judicial declaration that it “is the sole owner of all of the items in the [Terrace Hill] Collection and has the exclusive right to ownership and control over the items.” *Id.* ¶ 14. And it still seeks to force the Commission or Chair Hurd to let it continue its support by giving it access to the historical collection of personal property at the Terrace Hill site. *Id.* at 5–6. THSF bases its claims on assertions that it maintained ownership of the personal property it donated to the Commission for display at Terrace Hill. *Id.* ¶¶ 10–11.

The Commission again moved to dismiss, arguing that Count I was barred by sovereign immunity because “the State has not consented to suits about title to personal property in the State’s possession.” App. 25. State also argued that Count II against Chair Hurd could not be maintained because “[t]he Commission Chair has no authority to give [THSF] the relief it seeks” and that its “generalized assertion that the Commission or its members acted ‘in violation of federal . . . and state

law’ doesn’t fit the historical practice of the *Ex parte Young* exception to sovereign immunity.” App. 26.

The district court denied the Commission’s motion to dismiss Count I. App. 78–81. The court found that because the Commission accepted and retained donated property from the THSF, it waived its sovereign immunity and THSF’s assertions of property rights were not barred. App. 81.

The district court granted the Commission’s motion to dismiss Count II without prejudice. App. 82. The court agreed that THSF “has not alleged any specific violations of state or federal law.” *Id.* Rather, THSF only sued Chair Hurd “because she *might* do something adverse to THSF in the future.” *Id.*

The Commission sought interlocutory review, which was granted. The district court should be reversed and the Commission’s motion to dismiss both Counts should be granted with prejudice.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

I. Terrace Hill, the Society, the Foundation, the THSF, and the Commission.

Terrace Hill is the Governor of Iowa’s official residence. Built in 1869, it was gifted to the State in 1971 and has served as the Governor’s residence since 1972. House Joint Resolution of May 7, 1971, ch. 293, § 1, 1971 Iowa Acts 559, 559–60; Act of April 18, 1972, ch. 1132, § 1, 1971 Iowa Acts 517, 517. And the “primary function” of its lower floors is “use by the governor for official state functions.” *Id.*

When the State took ownership of Terrace Hill in the 1970s, the property needed significant repairs. To complete those repairs, two private organizations were established to act for the benefit of the State in making necessary improvements.

The Terrace Hill Society (“Society”) was organized as an Iowa nonprofit corporation in 1972 for the exclusive purpose of restoring and preserving the Terrace Hill site on behalf of the State.¹ In 1975, the

¹ See Article III of the Articles of Incorporation for the Terrace Hill Society (filed June 22, 1972). Because the Society’s articles of incorporation are a matter of public record, the Court may take judicial notice of their contents. See *Meade v. Christie*, 974 N.W.2d 770, 776 (Iowa 2022) (taking judicial notice of articles of incorporation).

Terrace Hill Foundation (“Foundation”) also incorporated as an Iowa nonprofit to “receive and maintain a fund or funds of real or personal property . . . exclusively for charitable . . . purposes.”²

Two years later, Governor Robert D. Ray signed Iowa Executive Order No. 26, establishing the Terrace Hill Authority (“Authority”). The Executive Order granted the Authority the legal duty to maintain the Terrace Hill property, and it obligated the Authority to confer with the Society and Foundation in that process. So under Executive Order 26—later codified by the 69th General Assembly in 1982—the Society and the Foundation operated for the benefit of Terrace Hill and its governing body. Act of April 9, 1982, ch. 1078, § 1, 1982 Iowa Acts 155, 155–56.

In 1986, the Legislature replaced the Authority with the Terrace Hill Commission—an official state agency responsible for preserving, renovating, landscaping, and administering Terrace Hill. Act of May 29, 1986, ch. 1245, § 1316, 1986 Iowa Acts 458, 601. The new legislation

² See Article III of the Articles of Incorporation for the Terrace Hill Foundation (filed Oct. 13, 1975). Because the Terrace Hill Foundation’s articles of incorporation are a matter of public record, the Court may take judicial notice of their contents. *See Meade*, 974 N.W.2d at 776.

authorized the Commission to “consult with the Terrace Hill society [and] Terrace Hill foundation.” *Id.*

Today, the Commission has nine members, each appointed by the Governor. Iowa Code § 8A.326(1). The Governor also appoints one of those members to serve as the chair. *Id.* The chair’s only additional authority is to call commission meetings and appoint committees of the commission. *See* Iowa Admin. Code r. 11-114.3(2), (3); *see also* Iowa Code § 8A.326(1) (giving the chair no individual or unilateral duties or authority over Terrace Hill property). Kristin Hurd currently serves as chair. App. 17, ¶ 3.

In 1996, the Commission entered into an operating agreement with the Society and the Foundation to formalize the relationship between the State and the non-profits who work on its behalf. The Agreement clarified the relationship between the organizations: “the Society and the Foundation each perform functions *on behalf of the State* and hold money *on behalf of the State*, all for Terrace Hill.” App. 58 (emphasis added).

Significantly, the Agreement also clarified: “[t]he Society activities are on behalf of the State of Iowa, and its control and supervision are *vested in public authority*; therefore, *the Society is a wholly-owned*

instrumentality of a political subdivision and, is a part of the operation of State government.” App. 60 (emphasis added). Thus, all property or money donated to the Society and the Foundation to benefit Terrace Hill is property collected on behalf of, and necessarily owned by, the State of Iowa. Although the Agreement expired, THSF alleges it continued to act in accordance with the “commitments” of the Agreement, which necessarily includes the Society operating as part of state government. App. 19, ¶ 12.

In 2012, the Society and Foundation merged to form the Terrace Hill Society Foundation. The merged organization was created “[t]o receive money and other property and to maintain a fund or funds and . . . to use such monies and other property . . . *exclusively for the benefit of the State of Iowa*” and the Terrace Hill property.³

In 2013, the Legislature amended the law so that the Commission no longer needed to consult with the Society or the Foundation. Act of June 17, 2013, ch. 135, §§ 63–65, 2013 Iowa Acts 1, 21. Instead, the

³ See Terrace Hill Foundation Articles of Merger (filed July 5, 2012) (emphasis added). Because the articles of merger are publicly filed, the Court may take judicial notice of their contents. See *Meade*, 974 N.W.2d at 776.

Legislature authorized the Commission to opt to “enter into . . . contracts with nonprofit organizations acting solely for the benefit and support of the Terrace Hill facility.” Iowa Code § 8A.326(4). The Legislature also clarified the purpose of the Commission “to provide for the preservation, maintenance, renovation, landscaping, and administration of the Terrace Hill facility,” including its historical collections and related property. Iowa Code § 8A.326(3). So under Iowa law, the Commission is the only organization with the statutory authority to preserve, maintain, and renovate Terrace Hill and its historical collection, and it has the discretion to contract with nonprofit organizations. *Id.*

II. The Lawsuit.

When “disagreement . . . developed between the Commission and THSF regarding ownership and control over the [Terrace Hill] Collection,” the Commission exercised its discretion under section 8A.326. App. 19, ¶ 13. The Commission declined to contract with THSF. So THSF sued the Commission, seeking declaratory and injunctive relief. The Commission moved to dismiss, arguing that THSF’s claims were barred by sovereign immunity. Rather than resist the motion, THSF

amended its petition. The new petition names both the Commission and its Chair, Kristin Hurd as defendants.

The Foundation does not seek to take possession of the historical collection from its current location at Terrace Hill. App. 17–22. But it wants “a declaratory judgment . . . that it – and not the Commission – is the sole owner of all items in the Collection and . . . has the exclusive right to ownership and control over the items in the Collection.” App. 21, ¶ 20. THSF also seeks an injunction against the Commission or its Chair forcing the Commission to permit the Foundation to have “reasonable rights of access to the Collection for purposes of documenting, itemizing, insuring, maintaining, and preserving the Collection.” App. 21. And it seeks other unspecified “supplemental orders for injunctive relief” to enforce its “right to control the use of the Collection.” *Id.*

The Foundation asserts its claim against Commission Chair Hurd “in her official capacity, pursuant to *Ex parte Young*, 209 U.S. 123 (1908).” App. 21, ¶ 24. And it bases that claim against the Chair on an allegation that any “assertion of ownership interests” “in the collection” by “the Commission (or any member(s) of the Commissioner [sic]”) would be “invalid and unenforceable, and in violation of federal law (including,

but not limited to, the United States Constitution) and state law (including, but not limited to, the Constitution of the State of Iowa).” App. 22, ¶ 25. Thus, the Foundation alleges that it is entitled to a declaratory judgment against Chair Hurd because the Commission or one of its members has violated some federal or state law.

The Commission moved to dismiss, arguing that the Commission retained its sovereign immunity, that Chair Hurd is not a proper defendant under *Ex parte Young*, and that THSF failed to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. App. 24–36.

The district court denied the Commission’s motion to dismiss Count I, finding that the Commission’s prior conduct waived its sovereign immunity and subjected it to suit by THSF. App. 79–81. The district court granted the motion to dismiss Count II against Ms. Hurd without prejudice because THSF made “no allegation that she has broken any specific state or federal law.” App. 81–82.

The Commission filed a timeline application for interlocutory appeal, which was granted.

ARGUMENT

The district court erred by denying the Commission’s motion to dismiss. The Commission—a state agency—is protected by sovereign immunity. The State has not consented to suits about title to property within its possession, so Count I against the Commission is barred. Chair Hurd is an improper defendant under Count II because she cannot provide the relief the Foundation seeks. And even if she were a proper defendant, the bare assertion that Chair Hurd has violated federal or state law is insufficient to state a claim for relief.

I. THSF’s claims against the Commission are barred by sovereign immunity.

The district court erred by denying the Commission’s motion to dismiss Count I, which THSF brings against the Terrace Hill Commission. The Commission is a state agency. App. 27. ¶ 2. Iowa Code § 8A.326(1) (creating the Governor-appointed commission); *id.* § 17A.2(1) (defining “agency” to mean “each board, commission, department, officer, or other administrative office or unit of the state”). THSF’s claims for declaratory and injunctive relief are both barred by sovereign immunity, and the State did not waive that immunity in its 1996 Agreement with TSHF’s predecessors.

A. THSF’s claim for declaratory judgment is barred by sovereign immunity.

Because the Commission is a state agency, it cannot be sued without the State’s consent. “[T]he States’ immunity from suit is a fundamental aspect of the sovereignty which the States enjoyed before ratification of the Constitution, and which they retain today . . . except as altered by the plan of the Convention or certain constitutional Amendments.” *Alden v. Maine*, 527 U.S. 706, 713 (1999). Sovereign immunity protects states from suits under the U.S. Constitution or federal law—even in State court—absent valid abrogation by congressional statute or waiver by the state. *Id.* at 754–55; *see also Lee v. State*, 815 N.W.2d 731, 737–39 (Iowa 2012).

This Court has repeatedly recognized “that in the absence of specific consent by the State, it *or its agencies* may not be sued in an action to obtain money from the State, or to interfere with its sovereignty or the administration of its affairs.” *Collins v. State Bd. of Soc. Welfare*, 81 N.W.2d 4, 6 (Iowa 1957) (emphasis added); *see also Hoover v. Iowa State Highway Comm’n*, 222 N.W. 438, 440 (Iowa 1928) (describing “the general and well-recognized rule that the state cannot be sued without its consent”). And its immunity includes protecting a State’s property

“possession from disturbance by virtue of judicial process.” *California v. Deep Sea Rsch., Inc.*, 523 U.S. 491, 507 (1998) (quoting *The Davis*, 77 U.S. 15, 21 (1869)).

THSF did not sue under a federal statute, so it cannot contend that Congress abrogated the State’s sovereign immunity. Nor did THSF sue under an Iowa statute that has waived sovereign immunity, such as the Iowa Tort Claims Act or the Iowa Administrative Procedure Act. *See* Iowa Code chs. 669, 17A. And the State did not consent to this suit—it sought dismissal in the district court because it has not waived its sovereign immunity.

THSF seeks a declaratory judgment that it is the owner of personal property in the possession of the State at Terrace Hill. The State has waived its sovereign immunity in Iowa and federal courts in Iowa for suits “involving the title to *real estate*, the partition of *real estate*, the foreclosure of liens or mortgages against *real estate*, or the determination of priorities or liens or claims against *real estate*, for the purpose of obtaining an adjudication touching or pertaining to any mortgage or other lien or claim which the state may have or claim to the *real estate* involved.” Iowa Code § 613.8 (emphases added). But that waiver for cases

involving real estate does not apply to cases—like this one—involving personal property. That the legislature waived immunity for some property disputes, yet did not do so for this dispute, is strong support that immunity is not waived here. *See State v. Hall*, 969 N.W.2d 299, 309 (Iowa 2022) (“Meaning is expressed by omission as well as by inclusion, and the express mention of one thing implies the exclusion of others not so mentioned.”); Antonin Scalia & Bryan A. Garner, *Reading Law: The Interpretation of Legal Texts* § 10 (2012) (“The expression of one thing implies the exclusion of others.”).

Sovereign immunity bars suits “involving property in which the state has an undoubted right or interest, and in which no effective decree can be rendered without binding the state itself.” *State ex rel. Eagleton v. Hall*, 389 S.W.2d 798, 801 (Mo. 1965). A court ruling that divests the State of its property interest in the collection at Terrace Hill interferes with its sovereignty, and thus requires its consent. *Megee v. Barnes*, 160 N.W.2d 815, 818 (Iowa 1968) (overruled on other grounds by *Kersten Co., Inc. v. Dep’t of Soc. Servs.*, 207 N.W.2d 117 (Iowa 1973)) (“The immunity of the state from suit applies where a . . . property interest of the state is involved.”). *See also Valley Gypsum Co., Inc. v. Pa. State Police*, 581 A.2d

707, 710 (Pa. Commw. Ct. 1990) (holding that action of replevin for personal property possessed by the state was barred by sovereign immunity). Here, the legislature has not waived sovereign immunity for suits involving title to personal property held by the State.⁴ And since the State has an undoubted property interest in the collection at Terrace Hill, THSF's claims seeking to divest the State of its property should have been dismissed.

⁴ The district court also erred when it characterized the State's possession of the disputed property as a bailment arrangement. *See* App. 79–81. A bailment requires a contract between the bailor and bailee outlining the responsibilities of each party. *In re Estate of Martin*, No. 11–0690, 2012 WL 1431490, at *4 (Iowa Ct. App. April 25, 2012) (“A bailment denotes delivery of personalty by one person [the bailor] to another [the bailee], for a specific purpose beneficial to bailee or bailor or both, *upon a contract, express or implied*[.]”). Indeed, the district court explained that “this case is not a breach of contract action.” App. 79. Nor did THSF allege a bailment relationship in its Amended Petition. Even if this action presumed that THSF's donation of property to the Commission was a bailment, the express language of the 1996 Agreement forecloses that argument. *See* App. 60 (noting that the Society was a wholly owned instrumentality of the State). And because a bailment action is an action at law, the proper remedy for a breach of bailment is return of the disputed property or money damages in the amount of the property's value—remedies THSF does not seek in this case. *See Morris Plan Leasing Co. v. Bingham Feed & Grain Co.*, 143 N.W.2d 404, 414–15 (Iowa 1966).

B. THSF’s claim for an injunction is barred by sovereign immunity.

THSF also seeks an injunction forcing the Commission to grant it “reasonable rights of access” to the items that it allegedly owns in the Terrace Hill historical collection. App. 18, ¶ 5. It wants access “for purposes of documenting, itemizing, insuring, maintaining, and preserving the Collection.” *Id.* But that is a significant intrusion into both the State’s sovereignty and the administration of its affairs.

The Legislature charged the Commission with the duty “to provide for the preservation, maintenance, . . . and administration” of the historical collection. Iowa Code § 8A.326(3). THSF’s requested injunction would thus interfere with the Commission’s statutory obligation. That intrusion is even more significant because THSF’s remedy seeks access rights to Terrace Hill—the Governor’s residence and location of official State functions. And it would interfere with the Commission’s discretion to contract with nonprofits it chooses. Iowa Code § 8A.326(4).

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