**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA**

**Case No. 22-1995**

---

**TERRACE HILL SOCIETY FOUNDATION,**

**Plaintiff/Appellee**

**v.**

**TERRACE HILL COMMISSION and  
KRISTIN HURD, in her official capacity as  
Chairperson of the Terrace Hill Commission,**

**Defendants/Appellants**

---

**Appeal from the Iowa District Court for Polk County  
(Hon. David Nelmark), Case No. CVCV063750**

---

**APPELLEE'S FINAL BRIEF**

---

**Jason M. Casini  
WHITFIELD & EDDY, P.L.C.  
699 Walnut Street, Suite 2000  
Des Moines, IA 50309  
Telephone: (515) 288-6041  
Fax: (515) 246-1474  
Email: [casini@whitfieldlaw.com](mailto:casini@whitfieldlaw.com)**

**ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF/APPELLEE**

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

## ARGUMENT

### Section I

#### THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY APPLIED CONTROLLING PRECEDENT IN RULING THAT THE COMMISSION, BY ITS CONDUCT, CONSTRUCTIVELY WAIVED SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY

##### A. The District Court’s Ruling Was Based on the Commission’s *Conduct*

In its Ruling denying the Commission’s Motion to Dismiss Count I of the Amended Petition (the declaratory judgment action) the District Court correctly concluded that when the factual allegations are considered “in the light most favorable to THSF, the Commission’s prior *conduct*” with regard to the Collection, including “willingly accept[ing] possession” of it and “retainin[ing] such possession” constituted constructive waiver of sovereign immunity and therefore subjects it to THSF’s request for a judicial determination regarding its ownership rights “on the merits.” (App. 81 (Ruling, p. 5 (emphasis added))).

Throughout its Brief, the Commission mischaracterizes THSF’s position, asserting that THSF is relying solely on the 1996 Agreement as the basis for constructive waiver of sovereign immunity. (Appellants’ Brief, pp. 26-28). However, as the Amended Petition makes clear, and as the District Court correctly concluded, entering into the 1996 Agreement was only part of the course of conduct by the Commission with regard to the Collection that resulted in constructive waiver of sovereign immunity. (App. 18-19 (Amended Petition, ¶¶ 9-12); App. 79-81 (Ruling, pp. 3-5)).



The Amended Petition specifically states that the course of conduct included “many years” of close working relationships and cooperative efforts between the parties, “including, *but not limited to*, the time period in which the 1996 Agreement was in effect,” and that the decision to place items from the Collection in the care and custody of the Commission was based on reliance on commitments by the Commission both “in the 1996 Agreement *and in many other communications*” with members of the Commission during that time period. (App. 18-19 (Amended Petition, ¶¶ 9-12 (emphasis added))). Accordingly, the District Court correctly noted that THSF’s position was based on “the Commission’s conduct during *and after*” the time period when the 1996 Agreement was in effect. (App. 79 (Ruling, p. 3 (emphasis added))).

In *Dvorak*, 261 N.W.2d at 489, this Court extended its prior holding in *Kersten Co. v. Department of Social Services*, 207 N.W.2d 117, 118 (Iowa 1973) “abandon[ing] its prior total abstention policy,” by holding that the State or a state agency can constructively waive sovereign immunity by voluntarily entering into a contract with a third party, as in *Kersten*, or through *other conduct* that creates common law “obligations and duties.” *Dvorak*, 261 N.W.2d at 488-89 (emphasis added) (citing *Kersten*, 207 N.W.2d at 119-21).

More recently, in *Lee I*, this Court squarely rejected the State’s position that Iowa law no longer recognizes constructive waiver of sovereign immunity, reaffirming its departure from the “absolute terms” of sovereign immunity in *Kersten* and its subsequent holding in *Dvorak* that “consent to suit or waiver of sovereign immunity need not always be restricted to legislative enactment” but can also be demonstrated by the *conduct* of the State or state agencies, based on the now well-established principle that the “the State is answerable for the legal relationships it voluntarily creates.” *Lee I*, 815 N.W.2d at 737-38, 741-42.

“We adopted the doctrine of constructive waiver in *Kersten* based on the public policy that it would be abhorrent to permit the State to enter into contracts with no corresponding obligation to perform its promises under the contract” and subsequently extended the doctrine of constructive waiver in *Dvorak* to “other circumstances where the State” or a state agency, through its *conduct*, “voluntarily assumes legal consequences.” *Id.* at 741-42. “The same public policy grounds that supported the adoption of the doctrine at that time exist today.” *Id.* at 741. As the Commission’s position in this case makes abundantly clear, those same public policy considerations still exist today. The Commission is asserting certain “property interests” in property that was placed into its care and custody by THSF and its predecessors and attempting to utilize the doctrine of sovereign immunity affirmatively in order to acquire ownership interests in it. (Appellants’ Brief, pp. 19-23).

The Commission directly acknowledges that it continues to retain possession of the Collection, despite THSF's claim of ownership rights, apparently under the mistaken premise that its limited statutory authority permits it to arbitrarily seize property that was placed in its care and custody in reliance on its stated commitments to work "cooperatively" with THSF and its predecessors toward their "mutual goal" of preserving and maintaining Terrace Hill. (Appellants' Brief, pp. 27-29; App. 18-19 (Amended Petition, ¶¶ 8-12)). But once it decided that it would not enter into a contract with THSF, ending the "cooperative" working relationships that formerly existed, and a disagreement developed over ownership rights to the Collection that ultimately resulted in THSF seeking a judicial determination of its ownership rights, the Commission is now attempting to not only evade any judicial determination of THSF's ownership rights "on the merits" but also seeking to, in effect, acquire ownership rights over the disputed property by attempting to wield the doctrine of sovereign immunity affirmatively, as a "sword."

Put another way, the Commission's contention that THSF's request for a declaratory judgment to determine its ownership rights should not be permitted to proceed because it is "seeking to *divest the State of its property*" would necessarily result in the Commission acquiring ownership rights without any valid determination of the "merits" of its position. (Appellants' Brief, pp. 22-23 (emphasis added)).

The Commission’s position therefore goes far beyond simply attempting to use sovereign immunity as a “shield” to avoid the “legal consequences” of its prior course of conduct, contrary to this Court’s prior decisions in *Kersten*, *Dvorak* and *Lee I* — the controlling precedent that the District Court correctly applied. It constitutes an attempt to utilize the doctrine of sovereign immunity offensively in order to *acquire* ownership rights in disputed property, by attempting to preclude the party claiming ownership rights from obtaining an adjudication on the merits. The public policy considerations for rejecting the Commission’s attempt to utilize the doctrine of sovereign immunity in this case are therefore even stronger than the circumstances in *Kersten*, *Dvorak* or *Lee I* and fully support the District Court’s decision to allow THSF’s declaratory judgment action to proceed on the merits.

B. Decisions From Other Jurisdictions Also Support The District Court’s Ruling Based On Public Policy Considerations Adopted by this Court

In its Brief, the Commission cites several decisions from other jurisdictions that the District Court correctly concluded were not persuasive because they are distinguishable from the situation presented in this case.<sup>21</sup> (Appellants’ Brief, pp. 22-23; App. 80 (Ruling, p. 4)).

---

<sup>21</sup> The District Court distinguished *State ex rel. Eagleton v. Hall*, 389 S.W.2d 798 (Mo. 1965) because “the state had not affirmatively engaged in conduct that could be considered” a constructive waiver of sovereign immunity. (App. 80 (Ruling, p. 4)).

To the extent this Court is inclined to consider cases from other jurisdictions, in addition to the controlling precedent of *Kersten*, *Dvorak* and *Lee I*,<sup>22</sup> the decisions originally cited with approval in *Kersten* continue to have vitality with regard to the important public policy considerations that fully support constructive waiver of sovereign immunity in situations in which the State or a state agency has voluntarily entered into business relationships with other parties involving mutual and reciprocal commitments and obligations.

In *Kersten*, the Court quoted a 1964 decision by the Delaware Supreme Court, *George and Lynch, Inc. v. State*, 197 A.2d 734, 736 (Del. 1964):

It follows, therefore, that in authorizing the State Highway Department to enter into valid contracts the General Assembly has necessarily waived the State's immunity to suit for breach by the State of that contract. Any other conclusion would ascribe to the General Assembly an intent to profit the State at the expense of its citizens. We are unwilling to assume that the General Assembly intended the State to mislead its citizens into expending large sums to carry out their obligation to the State and, at the same time, deny to them the right to hold the State accountable for its breach of its obligations. *To state the proposition is to demonstrate its injustice; indeed, so unjust is it that it might amount to the taking of property without due process of law.*

---

It also distinguished *Valley Gypsum Co. v. Pennsylvania State Police*, 581 A.2d 707 (Pa. Commw. Ct. 1990), a replevin action, and *California v. Deep Sea Research, Inc.*, 523 U.S. 491 (1998) because, unlike this case, "the state agency did not actually possess the property at issue." (*Id.*).

<sup>22</sup> See also *Raper v. State*, 688 N.W.2d 29, 53-54 (Iowa 2004) (affirming ruling that State waived sovereign immunity); *Anthony v. State*, 632 N.W.2d 897, 902 (Iowa 2001) (affirming ruling that State waived sovereign immunity).

*Id.* at 120 (emphasis added).<sup>23</sup>

In support of its attempt to avoid addressing the merits of THSF’s request for a declaratory judgment with regard to its ownership rights, the Commission attempts to characterize THSF’s request for declaratory relief as being equivalent, to “some degree,” to “destroy[ing] the government itself.” (Appellants’ Brief, p. 25). But the prospect of allowing the Commission to obtain possession of many priceless historical artifacts over many years of mutually beneficial and cooperative efforts and then utilizing the doctrine of sovereign immunity to not only prevent THSF from seeking any legal recourse but also, in effect, acquire ownership rights to the disputed property would constitute a manifest injustice that is directly at odds with the public policy considerations described in this Court’s prior decisions as well as decisions by courts in other jurisdictions. *Kersten*, 207 N.W.2d at 120 (quoting *George and Lynch*, 197 A.2d at 736) (holding that the doctrine of sovereign immunity should not be utilized by the State or a state agency to perpetrate “*injustice*,” such as situations that “might amount to the *taking of property without due process of law*”) (emphasis added).

---

<sup>23</sup> In *Kersten*, 207 N.W.2d at 120-21, the Court also cited several other decisions from other jurisdictions supporting the proposition that when a state or state agency enters into a contract or other reciprocal business relationships with another party, it cannot utilize the doctrine of sovereign immunity to “arbitrarily repudiate” its obligations without legal recourse to the other party.

*See also Lee I*, 815 N.W.2d at 737-38 (citing *Dvorak*, 261 N.W.2d at 489) (“[W]e have not confined the constructive waiver of [sovereign] immunity doctrine to contracts entered into by the State, but have applied it on other circumstances where the State voluntarily assumes legal consequences.”); *Hawkeye By-Products, Inc. v. State*, 419 N.W.2d 410, 412 (Iowa 1988) (recognizing “need for mutuality of remedy in order to insure fairness” and to avoid “unjust enrichment” of a state agency).

This Court should not depart from the sound public policy rationale adopted in *Kersten* and reaffirmed in *Dvorak* and *Lee I* by endorsing use of the doctrine of sovereign immunity as a “sword,” in order to effectuate the acquisition of property that was placed in the care and custody of a state agency “subject to the express understanding that it was owned by, and would be continue to be owned by” non-profit organizations working closely with that state agency for many years, “without any express or implied relinquishment of any ownership rights.” (App. 19, 21 (Amended Petition, ¶¶ 10-12, 18)).

C. The District Court’s Ruling Correctly Compared The Situation Described in the Amended Petition to a “Bailment” – But This Court’s Controlling Precedent Does Not Limit Constructive Waiver of Sovereign Immunity to “Bailments”

In a footnote, the Commission also contends that the District Court erred when it characterized the Commission’s possession of the Collection as a “bailment.” (Appellants’ Brief, p. 23 (FN 4)).

However, the District Court’s Ruling did not depend on whether the transfer of custody of the property at issue constituted a “bailment,” under Iowa law. Instead, under this Court’s existing precedent, the determinative issue when ruling on a Motion to Dismiss is whether the factual allegations in the Amended Petition, when taken as true, describe *conduct* by the Commission that is sufficient to constitute constructive waiver of sovereign immunity, pursuant to the controlling precedent established by this Court in *Kersten, Dvorak* and *Lee I*. Since the Amended Petition specifically alleges that property (the Collection) was placed in the care and custody of the Commission by THSF and its predecessors, for purposes involving their mutual benefit, without any relinquishment of ownership rights by THSF and its predecessors, the essential elements of a bailment under Iowa law do exist. *Khan v. Heritage Prop. Mgmt.*, 584 N.W.2d 725, 729-30 (Iowa Ct. App. 1998) (citing *Farmers Butter & Dairy Coop. v. Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co.*, 196 N.W.2d 533, 538 (Iowa 1972)) (describing essential element of a bailment and noting that it can be based on an express or implied contract or, alternatively, “can also arise by operation of law when justice requires” through a “constructive” bailment); (App. 18-19, 20 (Amended Petition, ¶¶ 8-12, 18)). However, THSF is seeking declaratory relief; it is not asserting any claims for compensatory damages, the remedy traditionally associated with bailment claims.



Therefore, while the situation described in the Amended Petition may qualify as a “bailment,” the existence of a bailment is not essential to the District Court’s Ruling denying the Motion to Dismiss. THSF need only allege *conduct* by the Commission sufficient to constitute constructive waiver of sovereign immunity. *Dvorak*, 261 N.W.2d at 489. As the District Court correctly concluded, based on what it identified as one of the “key” factual allegations in the Amended Petition: “[T]he Collection was placed in the care and custody of the Commission<sup>24</sup> . . . subject to the express understanding that it was owned by, and would continue to be owned by, those predecessor organizations and (now) THSF.” (App. 20 (Amended Petition, ¶ 18); App. 78 (Ruling, p. 2)). That course of conduct fully supports the District Court’s conclusion that sovereign immunity was constructively waived.

---

<sup>24</sup> The situation described in the Amended Petition might also be considered a “loan,” as that term is used in Iowa Code Chapter 305B, the Museum Property Act. A “loan,” in that context, “means a deposit of property not accompanied by a transfer of title to the property,” which is similar to, but distinct from, a “bailment,” under Iowa law. *See* Iowa Code § 305B.2(5). Notably, a “museum,” as defined by Iowa Code § 305B.2(6), “means an institution located in Iowa operated by a nonprofit corporation *or a public agency*, primarily for educational, scientific, *historic preservation*, or aesthetic purposes, which owns, borrows, cares for, exhibits, studies, archives, or catalogs property.” *Id.* (emphasis added). It includes, but is not limited to, “*historic sites or landmarks*,” which would presumably include Terrace Hill. (*Learn More About Terrace Hill, the Iowa Governor’s Residence, Terrace Hill*, <https://terracehill.iowa.gov/about-us>).

D. THSF Has Not Yet Requested, and the District Court Did Not Grant, Injunctive Relief

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